Although the propriety of establishing a medical school here has been sharply questioned by some, we will not attempt to argue the question. Results will determine whether or not the promoters of the enterprise were mistaken in their judgment and action. The city, we think, offers ample opportunity for all that is desirable in a first-class medical school, and if you will permit me to say it, the trustees and faculty propose to make this a first-class school.”
—John Milton Duff, MD
Professor of Obstetrics, September 1886

More than three decades after the city’s first public hospital was established, after exhausting efforts toward a joint charter, Pittsburgh physicians founded an independent medical college, opening its doors in September 1886. This congested industrial city—whose public hospital then performed more amputations and saw more fatal typhoid-fever cases per capita than any other in the country—finally would have its own pipeline of new physicians for its rising tide of diseased and injured brakemen, domestics, laborers, machinists, miners, and steelworkers from around the world, as well as the families of its merchants, professionals, and industry giants.

Today more than ever, Pitt med people are coming up with ways to, as Professor Duff put it, prevent and remove “the ills to which flesh is heir.” We’ve saved those stories for another day. On these pages, we offer some lesser-known moments in the early history of the city and school along a steady rise to prominence.
his land between the rivers was the frontier, requiring an arduous journey over the mountains or a risky river approach. The terrain was hilly with untamed streams rushing through steep ravines. Many were attracted by Pittsburgh's lush, wild landscape and its bountiful waterways. Settlers built on “The Point,” facing the port on the Monongahela River. Centuries later, this settlement would become a capital of medicine. Some glimpses of its early health history:

- At Fort Pitt, the British built two rough shelters in 1761 for a military hospital. After the war, a few physicians remained to serve the civilian populace.
- The local population was diverse. Blacks helped build Fort Pitt; both freemen and slaves lived within the city. Delaware Indians had a village on the banks of the Allegheny River, near today’s Lawrenceville. Iroquois and Shawnees also made their homes in the area, though these peoples were decimated by European diseases such as smallpox, influenza, and malaria.
- A public water system, built on the banks of the Allegheny River in 1820, was ineffectual. Refuse and heavy rains transmitted waterborne diseases directly to the public, and the water itself was unfiltered. Repeated epidemics of smallpox, Asiatic cholera, and typhoid fever plagued the city.
- Smallpox, the most feared plague, caused 74 deaths in 1828, despite quarantines. Asiatic cholera spread throughout the nation in 1832. To prepare, Pittsburgh built a temporary hospital and a dispensary, cleaned the streets, and removed garbage; still 105 died from cholera that year.
- As Pittsburgh grew, the quality of the water supply worsened. Allegheny River pollution was visible to the naked eye. In 1907, 5,652 cases of typhoid fever were reported, 648 of them fatal. As the outcry for clean water grew, construction began in 1905 on a slow sand filtration plant in Aspinwall. The city began getting treated water in 1908, and the instances of typhoid fever diminished significantly in the next few years.
- By 1840, Pittsburgh had become an industrial behemoth of iron and glass making, river travel, coal mining, and natural gas. Airborne coal dust, polluted rivers, and the smell of the slaughterhouse befouled the once-pristine environment.
- In 1787, locals gave a nod to education with a preparatory school, the Pittsburgh Academy. It was reincorporated in 1819 as the Western University of Pennsylvania, which was later renamed the University of Pittsburgh.
- A disastrous 1845 fire that began in a downtown shed demolished much of the city, including Western University of Pennsylvania. The school was rebuilt on Duquesne Way, but fire struck again in 1849.
- Described in 1820 as “a pleasant and flourishing town,” Pittsburgh later became known as an industrial den, dark with the effluvium of its industries. While many believed coal dust was actually healthful, keeping one free from malaria and lung ailments, the wealthy boarded trains each evening to their homes in the suburbs of East Liberty, Point Breeze, and Wilkinsburg. Those who lived nearest the mills, not surprisingly, were reported to have the worst health. By 1913, pneumonia was the city’s primary cause of death. (Today, after two renaissances, Pittsburgh has repeatedly been...
voted the nation’s “most livable city.” Its air quality has improved markedly, but the region still fares poorly in terms of particulate matter.

In 1847, Pittsburgh—about 90 years old—still had no public hospital. Physicians held a public meeting to whip up support for a proposed institution, and the state legislature passed an act of incorporation in 1848. But the hospital’s realization was still years away.

Mercy Hospital, now situated on The Bluff near Duquesne University, was the first hospital founded by an order of Catholic nuns called the Sisters of Mercy and the first permanent hospital in Pittsburgh. In January 1848, the sisters admitted a sick boatman to the hospital. He had typhus. They treated the man and admitted 18 other typhus victims. When the epidemic ended a few weeks later, 15 patients remained alive, but the entire nursing staff—four Sisters of Mercy—had died.

The city’s first public hospital, Western Pennsylvania Hospital, completed in 1850, was built on a hilly, 24-acre tract overlooking the Allegheny River. It stood empty for two years; no funds were available to furnish and equip the building. Once it opened, patients were brought to West Penn up the steep hillside via 28th Street by a horse- or mule-driven ambulance crossing the Pennsylvania Railroad tracks at Liberty Avenue.

Industrial accidents, especially those suffered by railroad employees, accounted for many of the admissions to West Penn. Railroad workers were often injured by the hand-operated car brakes or from the link-and-pin system for coupling cars.

During the Civil War as many as 1,500 wounded Pennsylvania soldiers were treated in the main wards of West Penn or in tents on the lawns. For a decade after the war, West Penn primarily treated veterans.

Before Pittsburgh had a medical school, Western Pennsylvanians seeking a medical education had few options. They could travel to the East Coast for training. Some went to Scotland’s Edinburgh University. Some apprenticed themselves to local physicians. Medicine was largely unregulated, so anyone could go into “business,” and there were many forms of quackery.

A group of physicians and surgeons, mostly practitioners at the Western Pennsylvania Hospital, sought harbor with another institution that would support a medical college. The group was repeatedly rebuffed. Western University refused to give up space for a dissection room or an anatomy room. When the physicians next sought a formal alliance with the University, the trustees said, “No.”

The medical men did not give up. They decided to form a private college themselves. On June 4, 1883, Western Pennsylvania Medical College was chartered, and 250 shares of stock were issued at $100 each. The sale of stock functioned as an endowment.

The Western Pennsylvania Medical College enrolled its first class in 1885. The founders bought land adjacent to West Penn Hospital, at 30th and Brereton Streets, in what is now Polish Hill. Although West Penn Hospital had refused to sponsor the Medical College, it offered the hospital wards as a clinical facility for students.
The medical college was housed in a new five-story building, completed in 1885, on property abutting West Penn Hospital. (An underground passageway linked the two buildings.) Most impressive was a well-lit, two-story post-mortem examination room. Other features were a lecture room, a dissecting room, several laboratories, and a museum. The museum, a gift from Albert G. Walter, an orthopaedic surgeon, held several hundred bones “illustrative of deformities,” plus tools and instruments invented by Walter.

Applicants to the new college needed only a diploma from a high school or a normal school.

Fifty-seven students enrolled in the college’s first class. A hundred dollars per year gave students access to all lectures and clinics. Other annual fees: matriculation, $5; practical anatomy, $10. The graduation fee was $25.

Students attended 14 clinical lectures each week and observed hospital surgery. Much of the work was hands-on from the beginning.

In the college dispensary, the hospital wards, or the City Alms House, students saw a panoply of medical ills: venereal diseases, mental and nervous complaints, childhood illnesses, eye and ear irregularities, conditions requiring surgery, and nose, throat, and skin disorders.

Records are conflicting about whether the school first offered a one- or two-year degree; but the school soon expanded to a three-year program, with a fourth year recommended.

Most of the professors at the college—not just after its founding but in later years, too—were unpaid volunteers. They were prominent practicing physicians.

In 1892, the medical college once again went looking for an affiliation with Western University of Pennsylvania. This time, Western was interested. After all, the 250 shares of medical college stock had grown to 1,000 shares. The “terms of union” were attractive. The medical college would be self-governing and self-sustaining, at first anyway. Western University gained partial nonvoting ownership of the medical college that year, with the option to take total ownership in the future.

In 1908, Western University of Pennsylvania was formally renamed the University of Pittsburgh under Chancellor Samuel Black McCormick. The University purchased 43 acres of hillside land in Oakland, known as Schenley.
Farms, for its new campus. That same year, the Western Pennsylvania Medical College became the property of the University of Pittsburgh.

The School of Medicine moved from Polish Hill to Pennsylvania Hall, located on the new University of Pittsburgh campus, in 1911.

As third dean of the medical school, Thomas Shaw Arbuthnot (appointed in April 1909) was an inspired choice. He was somewhat in the mold of Teddy Roosevelt. Arbuthnot came from a wealthy family, was a man of ideas and action, and was even a big game hunter. During his 10-year tenure, he transformed the medical school by modernizing the curriculum, building a top-notch faculty, and giving a sense of direction for the future.

At a time when only 15 medical schools required applicants to have anything beyond a high school education, Arbuthnot quickly raised entrance requirements to a minimum of two years of college and transformed the faculty by hiring young, promising medical scientists. (His instincts were excellent: Physiologist/pharmacologist C.C. Guthrie, for example, transformed blood vessel surgery. Oskar Klotz, chair of pathology, published extensively and recruited excellent faculty.)

The famed Flexner Report of 1910, which found that a large number of med schools had created an “enormous overproduction of undereducated and ill-trained medical practitioners,” suggested that the 155 colleges of medicine in the United States should be cut to 31 medical departments within large, well-run urban universities. Flexner was astonished by how well Pitt’s School of Medicine fared under Dean Arbuthnot. Since the present management took hold last fall, the admission of students has been more carefully supervised, the building has been put in excellent condition, laboratories for chemistry, physiology, bacteriology, and pathology have been remodeled and equipped with modern apparatus ... . The entire atmosphere of the institution has clarified: students may be found actually studying in the room in which under other conditions last year “four dozen wooden chairs were broken up” in boisterous horseplay.

In 1913, the School of Medicine received an A+ rating from the American Medical Association’s Council of Medical Education, putting it in league with medical colleges at Johns Hopkins, Harvard, and Yale.

Original home of the Western Pennsylvania Medical College on a hillside at 30th and Brereton streets in Polish Hill. In later years, as the school gained traction: Groundbreaking for Scaife Hall with Alan Magee Scaife and Sarah Mellon Scaife holding the shovel, 1954. Frank Dixon (middle) and colleagues, c. 1950s. Children’s Hospital of Pittsburgh. Date unknown. Milt Dupertuis (center), inaugural head of Pitt’s plastic surgery program, and residents examine a patient with a cleft lip repair in 1956. Pitt’s program quickly became a coveted training ground. Aerial view of the Oakland campus, c. mid-1940s. Peter Safar (second row, far left) with the staff of Freedom House Enterprises Ambulance Service at their Hill District headquarters in 1975. Jack Meyers in action. Date unknown.
In 1917, when the United States entered World War I, Dean Thomas Shaw Arbuthnot, by then a major in the army, took a leave of absence from the medical school to spend 15 months on French soil, along with other members of the teaching faculty. Base Hospital 27, organized and staffed by the University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, was sent to Angers, France, in September of that year. The group was housed in Mongazon seminary. The hospital was intended to hold 500, but during one week, 2,300 casualties arrived. The influenza pandemic felled as many as the enemy did.

Acting Dean Ogden Edwards Jr. led the school through the challenges of 1917 to 1919, including a regional onslaught of influenza. More than 23,000 Pittsburghers came down with the flu, and third- and fourth-year medical students were conscripted to care for those in hospital emergency wards.

Edwards, the acting dean, had an active interest in public health. As a former director of the City’s Department of Public Works, he had pushed for milk-production standards. He suggested that the faculty use its skills to address safety problems in the mills and coal mines. Edwards, like Dean Arbuthnot before him, thought working with the community on such problems was important even though, according to medical education historian Martin Kaufman, it was “generally assumed by members of the medical profession that doctors who devoted their time to the treatment of industrial workers … were not qualified to pass judgment on medical problems.”

Wartime students faced stiff academic discipline, and dropouts were automatically drafted. When student Philip Hench (who later won a Nobel for his work on cortisone) fell asleep in class, he was threatened with expulsion but got off with a sharp rebuke.
In a 1918 memo, Acting Dean Edwards described his vision of a medical center, suggesting that “a medical school building, a laboratory of hygiene and public health, a research laboratory, a small general hospital, an eye and ear hospital, a children’s hospital, a general dispensary, a psychopathic hospital” should be located together on the H.K. Porter property (a 12-acre site a little further down the hill from the existing Pitt campus). If a general hospital were built there, it would be in close proximity to the medical school. Dean Edwards boldly contacted Mr. Porter, asking him to name his price. Mr. Porter was not amenable to the proposal for some time. The University eventually bought the Porter site for $182,500 in October 1921.

On his return from the war, Arbuthnot tendered his resignation and could not be convinced to stay on as dean. When Raleigh Russell Huggins assumed the deanship, the creation of a medical center became his top priority. He wanted “first-rate practitioners and researchers” a stone’s throw from the classrooms. He was encouraged by Chancellor John Bowman, who had made important friendships with Andrew and Richard B. Mellon; they all would share the dream for the medical center and University.

The medical center proceeded by fits and starts, especially during the Depression. Magee Hospital, in its original location (a former mansion), was the first to affiliate with the University. On the Porter property, Children’s Hospital opened in 1926, followed by the Eye and Ear Hospital in 1934. Falk Clinic, an outpatient facility funded by brothers Maurice and Leon Falk, was dedicated in 1931.

Presbyterian Hospital, the much-needed general facility, was the toughest case. Presbyterian administrator Hugh Thompson Kerr, an MD, recalled spending an evening with Dean Huggins, who urged him to make Presbyterian Hospital part of the medical center: “[Huggins] kept saying, ‘The idea is right, and it is bound to be realized.’” But because of a lack of money, it took 15 years to complete the hospital building, which opened finally in 1938. The east wing of that structure was built and occupied by Women’s Hospital and completed in 1939.

One other hospital, Western Psychiatric Institute and Clinic, was made possible by an act of the Pennsylvania General Assembly in 1931. It was located on University property, at Desoto and O’Hara streets. Its primary purpose was to treat those who could improve after about four months in residence.

Two years later, Dean McEllroy cobbled together money from four different departments in order to hire Jonas Salk, a young virologist working on the influenza virus. Salk’s lab was in the basement of Municipal Hospital (which, at the time, was not even a part of the Pitt campus). Salk maneuvered directly for what he wanted—more laboratory space, more independence, more money for research. He recruited virologist Julius Youngner and other key team members. Skirting University protocol, Salk negotiated directly with Harry Weaver, research director of the National Foundation for Infantile Paralysis, to get grants. Weaver felt instinctively that Salk had the drive to seek a cure for polio, the disease feared by so many families.

Scientists on the polio-vaccine team inoculated themselves first, then their own children, before doing field tests. In 1952, children at what was then the D.T. Watson Home for Crippled Children, a rehabilitation center, received the vaccine. On April 2, 1955, scientists at the University of Michigan confirmed that the Pitt team had created a vaccine that was “safe, effective, and potent.”

The polio-vaccine team’s accomplishment set the tone for the school’s future. In the decades after, the school would attract, among its faculty and student body, an array of clinical stars and astoundingly good physician-scientists who would change medical science forever. Beginning on p. 24, we share our Pitt-med-centric view of defining moments in medicine.
OPPORTUNITY DIDN’T ALWAYS KNOCK

The medical college was coeducational until 1909, when it barred women from admission.

Amelia Dranga, a local physician who headed the Women’s Medical Society in Pittsburgh, voiced her opinion about the ban on women to the Chancellor and others, including the Pittsburgh Press: The argument advanced for refusing women’s admittance is that it is embarrassing for the women and men to study medicine together. Bosh! If women and men can be embarrassed by studying medicine together, then their places certainly are not in the medical profession.

In the face of declining enrollments (because of stricter entrance requirements), the University board capitulated, resolving in its June 1912 meeting that it will be possible to receive young women students in this school, even though special facilities which it is hoped may be made later, are not yet possible. Three women entered the freshman class in 1913. Today women make up about half of the student body.

In 1901, the School of Medicine graduated its first African American MD: Allen Gilbert Gantt, who practiced medicine in Pittsburgh for half a century. He was born in South Carolina and served as a pastor there for two years before he came to Pitt. At the time of his death in 1950, he was medical advisor at the Davis Home for Colored Children, an orphanage in Point Breeze. Gantt and fellow African American alums Harrison M. Brown (MD ‘04), Charles Henry Carroll (MD ‘06), and James Charles Gill Fowler (MD ‘06) were all founding members of Rho Boulé, the local chapter of Sigma Pi Phi. The fraternity is still going strong to this day, supporting social action and public-policy efforts in Pittsburgh.

The same opportunity didn’t arise for a Black woman for several decades, until Harrisburg, Pa., native Elaine Morris (MD ’75) graduated.

By 1915, about a half dozen African Americans had made the school’s alumni roster. Then, inexplicably, Blacks were barred for some 30 years. This shift reflected the grim national picture in the Jim Crow era. As late as 1968, only 266 Blacks were enrolled in med schools across the country—all but a few dozen of them at historically Black universities.

Enrollment for Jewish students was a slow, uphill climb, as well. According to To Good Health and Life: L’Chaim (A History of Montefiore Hospital of Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, 1898-1990), “There was no question. For the Jew aspiring to a medical career,” said Sidney Kaufman (MD ’41), “it was a hostile environment. Medical schools limited Jewish admissions severely.” He was one of five Jews to graduate in his class of 55 students.

In the wake of civil rights protests, American undergraduate and graduate schools made unprecedented efforts to diversify enrollment in the early 1970s. Pitt med alums from that time report they’d been offered numerous scholarships from other schools. But to their disappointment, during their interviews, most of those program administrators confessed they were accepting only one or two African American students at a time. Pitt outpaced them all, admitting 15 Black students in 1970.

Unfortunately, this promising jump in the numbers wasn’t sustained—the ‘70s were roller-coaster years for enrollment of students from underrepresented groups. Black students—who, in addition to the rigors of their studies, were practically running the school’s diversity recruitment effort themselves at that time—called for reinforcements. They finally got them in 1979 when a new position was created: assistant dean for minority affairs.

Enrollment among underrepresented groups shot up from 12 schoolwide in 1978 to 61 students by 1984, thanks to William Wallace and Carolyn Carter, the first two to fill the assistant dean role. Wallace discovered that some prospective students who were denied interviews at Pitt wound up attending other prestigious medical schools; this helped him make a case for changing the review process at Pitt.
In the ’70s, Jackson Wright (MD ’76, PhD ’77) became the first African American to earn both an MD and PhD from the School of Medicine. Wright is now a professor of medicine at Case Western Reserve University. A seasoned clinical researcher focusing on agents that lower hypertension and cholesterol, he’s been a key player in nearly every major clinical-outcome trial conducted in African American populations in the past two decades.

Sandra Murray, professor of cell biology and physiology, became the School of Medicine’s first African American female tenured full professor in 1999. Murray has been a seminal contributor in the field of cell-to-cell communication. (When Murray first started haunting science fairs in grammar school, she was in it for the ticket out of class. Little did she know they’d turn her into a lifelong learner and a science lover.)

As a Pitt med student, Jeannette South-Paul (MD ’79) led a group that established the Black Bag Award, which honors a faculty member each year for work with Pitt meders from underrepresented populations. As Pitt’s Andrew W. Mathieson Professor and Chair of the Department of Family Medicine, she has herself won a number of awards for community service, research excellence, teaching, and mentoring, including the 2004 McCann Scholar Award from the Joy McCann Foundation. South-Paul was the first woman to serve as a permanent chair of a department in Pitt’s School of Medicine.

There’s been a bit of a Pittsburgh dynasty in SNMA (Student National Medical Association), the nation’s oldest and largest student organization focused on the needs and concerns of medical students of color. Several Pitt meders have served as national and regional SNMA officers in the past decade, including Leon McCrea (MD ’06), Aderonke Omotade (MD ’03), Nikkisha Prentice (MD ’06), and J. Nadine Gracia (MD ’02, Res ’05), who’s now chief medical officer for the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services’ Office of the Assistant Secretary for Health.

The school now hosts several efforts to spark interest in medicine among young people from underrepresented groups. Launched in 1974, Pitt’s Medical Explorers program—which teaches teens and tweens about the health professions—is the longest-running among the some 10,000 groups around the country. At 131 members last year, Pitt’s is probably also among the largest. At least eight explorers have gone on to don white coats in the School of Medicine, and dozens of others have in med schools elsewhere.
What follows are excerpts from the first lecture given to students of the Western Pennsylvania Medical College in September 1886. Chair of obstetrics, John Milton Duff, an MD, did the honors. Duff, who raised $15,000 to be put toward a hospital for the South Side, taught humility and respect for science and nature; he was also a product of his paternalistic times.

**GENTLEMEN:**

You enter a profession of which you may well feel proud. Great has been medicine’s work in the past! What may we expect of it in the future! In your labor the delight of acquiring knowledge and intellectual power will be compensation. There will be a gratification in searching for the intricate beauties of God’s most holy work, while satisfaction will abound everywhere in contemplating the gracious supply of means for removing and preventing the ills to which flesh is heir.

Entertaining in its study, often very difficult in its practice, we are sorry to say obstetrics does not always receive the consideration its importance demands. A large proportion of the laity deem the duties and responsibilities so slight that they regard any ignorant pretender … as a person thoroughly competent to preside over the lying-in chamber. … It is obligatory upon the practical obstetrician to acquaint himself intimately with every pathological change of physiological process which may or should take place from the moment of conception until the mother, after a return to a normal condition, walks forth from the lying-in chamber with the child of her womb pressed to her bosom. After delivery, dangers surround her on every hand. Not only the state of the solids and fluids demands attention, but the organic changes which must take place in every lying-in woman need the closest and most intelligent watchfulness.

In the study of obstetrics one of the subjects which demands your special attention is the peculiarities of sex. It is in domestic life that woman shows to greatest advantage. … In this home relation you will have the greatest opportunity to study her peculiarities. The family hearthstone is her throne, and there she wields the scepter of power. …

What can be more inviting than to watch the development of the human ovum as it passes through its many transitions, from the time it is grasped by the fimbriated extremities of the Fallopian tube until—after months of an interesting developmental existence in the uterus— it at last through the powers of nature is expelled and comes forth to the world a perfectly formed human being breathing the breath of life. Beautiful as is the uninterrupted display of nature under these circumstances, … it will be necessary for you who expect to become practitioners to interest yourselves in the abnormalities and pathological conditions which often occur. They should be of peculiar interest to you. There is an importance attached to them which calls for the most careful study; an importance which you will not and cannot appreciate until, perhaps far away from instructor and associates, you will be called upon to face with fear and trembling.

Picture to yourselves a scene: A happy household, joyfully anticipating the advent of a bright and tender baby to add new charms and new joys. … Suddenly the sunshine of their happiness is darkened. … Listen to the wail that goes up from those motherless children—while the ignorant pretender standing by is dumb to all entreaties, forced to inactivity by his incompetence … call upon the rocks and the mountains to fall upon him and hide him from the presence of his God!

Gentlemen, I would that I could let fall upon you words of fire to impress upon you the sacredness of the obligations you take upon yourselves when you announce to the world your readiness to practice medicine.

Do not allow yourselves to think a mere cursory knowledge of your subject is sufficient … nor that your own ingenuity will supply all deficiencies and add perfection to every excellence. Such a course will consign you most certainly, and soon, to well-merited oblivion, where you may ponder sadly over the melancholy memorial of time misspent or of industry exercised unavailingly. You will find nature a wonderful obstetrician. If let alone, many times she will surmount difficulties in a manner which would put the blush of shame on your best-directed efforts.

**Editor’s Note:** While Professor Duff pontificated on the “peculiarities” of the female sex, women of Pittsburgh were coming together to build and support much-needed hospitals for the city (see opposite page), and then some.
The formidable treatment, “and when its funds would permit, open a hospital—a move that would also give restrictions, a hospital to staff.

proper medical and surgical attention and signed the next year, vowed “to assist and provide in high esteem.

(LHLHAS), with annual dues of $5. Their charter, formed the Hebrew Ladies Hospital Aid Society—Shadyside—formed in the 1800s.

In the latter half of the 19th century, as the city’s population exploded, the middle- and upper-class women of Pittsburgh agitated an unprecedented boom in hospital formation and construction. The Irish Catholic Sisters of Mercy had, since 1847, operated the city’s first civilian hospital. Two years later, four German Lutheran deaconesses immigrated to help start and work in the Pittsburgh Infirmary (now UPMC Presbyterian). In the 1880s, women formed the board of directors of Children’s Hospital of Pittsburgh, a project conceived in 1883 by an 11-year-old boy; they raised enough money for Children’s to provide free care for all patients for two decades. In 1895, 13 women and two male physicians converted the founding board of the Eye & Ear Hospital.

By the time Davis and her neighbors had launched LHLHAS (the Hebrew society), the Homeopathic Hospital’s Ladies’ Association—Pittsburgh’s first permanent volunteer women’s hospital auxiliary—had served as a perfect fund-raising machine and a powerful labor force for four decades. Twice weekly, two members inspected the four-story, eight-room downtown building and its patients. Should the wards be found in a filthy condition, or the patients unkemptly treated, or in any way neglected, you may well imagine that it would not long remain a secret, declared the hospital’s 1870 report.

The ladies consistently met the needs they documented on those inspections. They provided fruits and vegetables from their own gardens, sheets from their own linen closets, and clothing for the infants of unmarried mothers. They found employment for patients without jobs and read the Bible aloud in the wards. And in a time when donors overawed the dispensation of their benevolence, the Ladies’ Association—dominated by members of the Temperance movement—refused to pay for the care of “those who had brought themselves to distress by their own dissipation.”

Mary Copley Thaw—a mother of five and wife of Steel City shipping magnate William Thaw—served as chair of the Ladies’ Association from 1891 to 1913, ultimately overseeing a campaign that would raise $65,000 for the hospital’s 1910 move to Shadyside. In 1918, she sent a memo to the executive committee of the Homeopathic Hospital: “I cannot think why this has never occurred to me before,” she wrote, “but I do believe it would be an excellent idea for the hospital to keep chickens.”

For three decades, Thaw had seen to the hospital’s needs, both large and small. When Elizabeth Riggs Picarel supplied an ambulance in 1888, Thaw provided the horses to pull it. She also gave $60,000 for an Eye and Ear Annex to the main hospital, homemade jelly, iron heating stoves and ventilators for the kitchen, a dozen brooms, and a pew in her church for the nurses. She sponsored weekly banjos, guitar, and mandolin recitals “to break the dull monotony of hospital life” and in 1910, interviewed and hired a cook for the nurses’ dormitory.

Undoubtedly loath to offend to generous a benefactor, the committee replied that if Thaw were to provide for their housing, it would buy hers. Thaw sent the coops and, for a time, patients at the Homeopathic Hospital enjoyed some of the freshest eggs in town.


ow has medicine changed since the Victorian era? Let us count the ways. Both in Pittsburgh and beyond, Pitt people have advanced how we treat diseases and disorders of the body and brain—from head to toe, inside out, and all the way down to the molecular level. Here are 125 game-changing medical discoveries and technologies (along with a few sundries) from our 125-year history that will blow your bowler back.
FROM HEAD TO TOE

1. Discovery of the first biomarker for glioma. (J. Schuman, 2011)

2. Promoting sitcker surgical criteria for some of the most common operations performed on chil- dren, including tonsillectomy, adenoidectomy, and tympanotomy-lab procedures. Perhaps no one has done more for children by showing that less had to be done to them than Pitt’s Professor Emeritus of Pediatrician Jack Williams, whose use of clinical tri- als helped make this happen.

3. Rewriting the rules on traveling head and neck cancer that has sprawled to the lymph nodes. By adding methods to the standard post- regime of radiation in the 1980s, doctors in Pitt’s Department of Otalaryngology found that they could prevent local recurrence and increase survival rates. A decade later, Pitt professor (nominator) would go over well today, such as “successful transplants of heads, kidneys, and other tissues, alive and preserved, on dogs and other animals.”

4. Establishing interferon alpha-2b therapy as the first—and to date the only—effective adjunct medical therapy for prevention of relapse and death from surgically treated melanomas with a high risk of recurrence. (J. Kirkwood, 1995)

5. The first to use actinized native-tissue culture to treat advanced melanoma, as well as kidney cancer. (J. D. Keeney, 1978)

6. Demonstrating in 1956 that mouth-to-mouth rescue breathing was superior to then-current methods. To do this, Pitt’s Peter Safar (then chief of anesthesiology Department of Otolaryngology found that they inserted through the nostrils. Pitt otolaryngologists expected than 98 percent.

7. Discovering that serine and matrix metallo- proteinases—products of the immune response to cigarette smoke—are at the heart of emphysema and possibly lung cancer. (M. Fine, A. M. Houghton, 2008)

8. Promoting stricter surgical criteria for some cancers. He showed in 1985 that lumpectomy was just as effective as radical mastectomy, a disfiguring and very long survival surgery. (Bahnson, while at Johns Hopkins, also was the first to repair aneurysms of the aorta where it arched out of the heart. The authoritative book on comparative coagu- lation systems, by Pitt researcher and leader of Enterprise Ambulance Service, which trained first- responders from the Hill District.


10. Isolated and cultivated (differentiated) second, the second bacterial species recognized to cause legio- naella pneumonia. (A. Macrilla, 1980)

11. Discovering that serum and matrix metallo- proteinases—products of the immune response to cigarette smoke—are at the heart of emphysema and possibly lung cancer. (M. Fine, A. M. Houghton, 2008)

12. Improving paediatric care advanced, especial- ly managing those with circulatory and respiratory failure. (G. Magovern Sr.)

13. Inventing a technique for correcting deformi- ties of the chest wall. (M. Raitov, 1974)

14. Changing the outcomes of countless women with breast cancer by improving their chance of survival and quality of life. As a result of almost 50 years of laboratory and clinical research conducted for breast cancer is a systemic disease and proved, by clinical trials, the value of systemic therapy following surgery. Other trials by him demonstrated that breast cancer can be prevented and that preventive therapy chemoprevention enables more women to have a breast cancer-free lifetime. He is considered the first to promote cancer treatment based on sci- ence rather than opinion. (J. Fisher) is best known for these breast cancer treatment advances. What most people don’t know is that the Pitt Distincting Professor of Surgery started out as a renal and liver specialist.

15. Discovering that breast cancer cells may fail to produce estrogen receptor because of nongenetic mechanisms that contribute to a genes’s silencing—including, e.g., epigenetics. (M. E. Davidson, 1994)

16. Inventing a technique for correcting defor- mities of the chest wall. (M. Raitov, 1974)

17. Developing exchange transfusion, a lifesave- ing procedure for newborns with Rh disease (1951). Paul Gaffney (MD ’43) performed more than 10,000 a highly sensitive method to detect differences. (G. Michailopoulou, 1981)


21. Establishing interferon alpha-2b therapy as the first—and to date the only—effective adjunct medical therapy for prevention of relapse and death from surgically treated melanomas with a high risk of recurrence. (J. Kirkwood, 1995)

22. The first to use actinized native-tissue culture to treat advanced melanoma, as well as kidney cancer. (J. D. Keeney, 1978)

23. The first double-hand transplant in the United States was led by Pitt plastic surgeons in 2009.

24. Making modern vascular surgery possible. Faculty member C. C. Guthrie’s early 20th century work became the base for future development in the field. Many of Guthrie’s innovations wouldn’t go over well today, such as “successful transplants of heads, kidneys, and other tissues, alive and preserved, on dogs and other animals.”


27. Isolated and cultivated (differentiated) second, the second bacterial species recognized to cause legio- naella pneumonia. (A. Macrilla, 1980)


29. The first double-hand transplant in the United States was led by Pitt plastic surgeons in 2009.

30. Making modern vascular surgery possible. Faculty member C. C. Guthrie’s early 20th century work became the base for future development in the field. Many of Guthrie’s innovations wouldn’t go over well today, such as “successful transplants of heads, kidneys, and other tissues, alive and preserved, on dogs and other animals.”

31. Establishing interferon alpha-2b therapy as the first—and to date the only—effective adjunct medical therapy for prevention of relapse and death from surgically treated melanomas with a high risk of recurrence. (J. Kirkwood, 1995)

32. The first to use actinized native-tissue culture to treat advanced melanoma, as well as kidney cancer. (J. D. Keeney, 1978)

33. The first double-hand transplant in the United States was led by Pitt plastic surgeons in 2009.

34. Making modern vascular surgery possible. Faculty member C. C. Guthrie’s early 20th century work became the base for future development in the field. Many of Guthrie’s innovations wouldn’t go over well today, such as “successful transplants of heads, kidneys, and other tissues, alive and preserved, on dogs and other animals.”

35. Discovering that breast cancer cells may fail to produce estrogen receptor because of nongenetic mechanisms that contribute to a genes’s silencing—including, e.g., epigenetics. (M. E. Davidson, 1994)

36. Inventing a technique for correcting defor- mities of the chest wall. (M. Raitov, 1974)

37. Developing exchange transfusion, a lifesave- ing procedure for newborns with Rh disease (1951). Paul Gaffney (MD ’43) performed more than 10,000 a highly sensitive method to detect differences. (G. Michailopoulou, 1981)


40. Proving the clinical viability of the immuno- suppressants cyclosporin and tacrolimus. (T. Stace, 1989)


42. Understanding the role of hepatic growth factor, its receptor, and the role of extracellular matrix. (M. Michailopoulou, 1981)

43. Understanding the role of hepatic growth factor, its receptor, and the role of extracellular matrix. (M. Michailopoulou, 1981)

44. Understanding the role of hepatic growth factor, its receptor, and the role of extracellular matrix. (M. Michailopoulou, 1981)


47. Understanding the role of hepatic growth factor, its receptor, and the role of extracellular matrix. (M. Michailopoulou, 1981)
Basic Physiology and Practical Therapeutics. Pitt’s prolific Thaddeus Danowski, who developed the pediatric diabetes program at Children’s Hospital in 1947, penned 600 scholarly works.  

44 Successfully developing synthetic insulin. Panayotis Katsoyannis’ five years of toiling in his Pitt lab to decipher the 200 delicate steps in the synthesis process, LIFE reported in 1964, “was roughly equivalent to working a dozen jigsaw puzzles simultaneously while blindfolded.”  

45 Confirming, in 1967, that insulin deficiency distinguished type 1 from type 2 diabetes. (A. Drash) Today, Pitt doctors are identifying the genes and proteins involved in the creation of new insulin-producing cells (A. Stewart); they’ve developed an innovative experimental vaccine for type 1 diabetes (M. Trucco, N. Giannoukakis); and they’ve shown that the thymus is arguably just as important for type 1 diabetes development as the pancreas (Y. Fan, M. Trucco).  

46 Dispelling the myth that pancreatitis is almost always associated with alcoholism. David Whitcomb identified a number of genetic causes for pancreatitis and proved that all pancreatitis begins with trypsin activation. In 1995, the Pitt prof made one of the most important breakthroughs in pancreatitis research in a century ... by throwing a party. At a reunion hosted for a family that had a rare, genetic form of pancreatitis, the scientist took more than 100 blood samples. The following year he published his groundbreaking finding: The affected family members were genetically predisposed to pancreatitis through autodigestion set off by loss of regulation of the protein-digesting enzyme trypsin.  

47 Demonstrating that glomerular failure lies at the root of every renal disease. Pitt grad Barry Brenner (MD ’62) also found that antihypertensive drugs lowered glomerular pressure, allowing the kidney to survive longer. Harvard’s Brenner is “probably the world’s top nephrologist,” noted a colleague a few years ago. Yet shortly after his arrival as a new student to Pitt med, Brenner spotted a “super genius” from his high school. Panic washed over him: My God, how am I going to compete if everyone is at this level? (The genius from home eventually dropped out of the program.)  

48 Discovery of “Compound E,” now known as cortisone. Philip Hench (MD ’20) and his Mayo Clinic colleague Edward Kendall had a hunch for years before they were able to test it—a hunch that Kendall’s newly discovered adrenal hormone, Compound E, might help people with crippling arthritis. But it was a complex compound to create in the lab. The pair waited from 1941 until 1948 before they got a break. Rumors that Germany had been using adrenal hormones to give their fighter pilots an edge spurred U.S. military support for synthetic-hormone research. For cortisone work and related studies, Hench and Kendall won the 1950 Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine.  

50 Pitt orthopods have managed other feats that became the foundation for the future of cartilage science and repair, including: showing that injection of cortisol could harm cartilage (1966); leading the development of cartilage tissue engineering (1970); and the first recorded successful cartilage cell joint allografts (2000).
The Common Sense Book of Baby and Child Care (1946). Benjamin Spock’s bestselling treatise, rooted in a study of psychoanalysis that encouraged parents to trust their instincts (noting, for example, that it’s okay to show affection), redefined parenting. Spock brought to Pitt pediatrics an emphasis on child development rather than childhood illness. After World War II, Spock’s book seemed to be at every cribside, soothing anxious parents. In the turbulent ’60s he built a different reputation—as an outspoken opponent of the Vietnam War and the military draft in particular. Arrested for allegedly counseling young men to disobey the draft law (charges were later dropped), he ran for president (1972) and then vice president (1976). (In 1967, he was slated to be named Martin Luther King Jr.’s vice-presidential candidate at a conference reportedly disrupted by “government agents provocateurs.”)

One of the first psychiatry departments to insist on evidence-based medicine. Thomas Detre arrived in 1973 to take the reins of Western Psychiatric Institute and Clinic (WPIC) and the Department of Psychiatry. From the get-go, Detre saw rigorously researched medicine as the future of his field—with psychiatrists partnering with biologists, neurologists, epidemiologists, geneticists, and others. He was one of the people most responsible for propelling Pitt to the top tier of medical schools and for making UPMC what it is today.

Uncovering biologically based root causes of mood disorders and better detection methods and long-term treatment strategies. (D. Kupfer, 1990s)

Revealing the relationship of sleep disorders to cardiovascular health, depression, and menopause. (D. Kupfer, starting in 2000)

Chairing the task force charged with revising the forthcoming fifth iteration of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM), the bible of psychiatry. That would also be David Kupfer, a Thomas Detre protégé. By promoting evidence-based collaborations between clinical- and basic-science investigators as chair of the psychiatry department from 1983 to 2009, Kupfer has made WPIC one of the preeminent university-based psychiatric centers, with an encyclopedic roster of psychiatric-disorder studies.

The recent finding that GABA neurons, which regulate working memory, function improperly in people with schizophrenia. The abnormality represents a promising molecular target for treating cognitive impairment in those with the disorder. The same team has identified a compound that boosts GABA-neuron signaling. (D. Lewis, 2004, 2008)

Tracing signals in the brain using viruses to discover, for example, that learned movement, such as a master pianist’s performance of a concerto, follows a route from cortex to cerebellum to the ivories. Peter Strick’s work has contributed greatly to our insights on how the brain operates as a network—most notably, that the cerebellum and the cerebral cortex continuously exchange information in a closed-loop circuit, and that the human cerebellum is well connected to higher-brain centers. As befits someone who was a high school basketball teammate of baseball legend Reggie Jackson, Distinguished Professor of Neurobiology and codirector of the Center for the Neural Basis of Cognition, Pitt’s Strick, retains a passion for athletics and what it illustrates about human actions, especially automatic movement.
Building an understanding of neuronal communication, as well as the required cyborg technology, to allow an otherwise immobile person to move a robotic arm just by thinking about it. (A. Schwartz, starting in 1988)

Discovering, in the 1960s and 1970s, the neurological mechanism of urination—from the primitive reflex in infancy to the voluntary control we develop as toddlers—as well as how the bladder’s network of nerves rewires itself in the wake of a spinal cord injury. Disorders of the sacral nerves, which control the autonomic functions of the bladder, bowel, and reproductive organs, have always been shrouded in shame. Treatment lagged behind other neurological conditions because so little was understood about the unique wiring at the base of the spinal cord—that is, until Distinguished Professor of Pharmacology and Chemical Biology William “Chet” de Groat brought these diseases out of the water closet.

Pittsburgh Compound B—the first noninvasive method of detecting beta-amyloid proteins that form the plaques in the brain tissue of people with Alzheimer’s disease. Pitt psychiatrist William Klunk and radiochemist Chester Mathis have been fishing buddies for years. Between them, they’ve caught trout, steelhead, salmon, and even each other (with the rare errant cast) on their many expeditions along the streams of Lakes Erie and Ontario. But there’s a reason it’s called “fishing,” not “catching”—it takes patience, something these scientists are no strangers to. Klunk and Mathis tried hundreds of compounds over almost a decade before successfully developing the radiopharmaceutical dye known as Pittsburgh Compound B at Pitt in 2002.

Outing the dangers of even low-level lead exposure, including lower IQ and shifts in behavior that lead to delinquency. Herbert Needleman’s studies were key in persuading the Environmental Protection Agency to take lead out of gasoline in the 1970s, making possible a 90 percent reduction in blood lead levels in American children. As a self-admittedly cocky young resident in Philadelphia, Needleman (who would later do his important lead-exposure work as a member of the Departments of Pediatrics and Psychiatry at Pitt) brought a little girl with severe lead poisoning back from a coma, breathed a sigh of relief, and told the girl’s mother she’d make it—they’d just have to move out of that lead-paint-infested home. Angry, the mother snapped. Where can I go? Any house I can afford will be no different from the house I live in now. Needleman realized lead itself wasn’t the problem—it was the society that had allowed her to live in a toxic environment simply because she came from a low-income family.

The discovery, in 1949, of Riley-Day syndrome, a disorder of the autonomic nervous system. When Richard Lawrence Day—Pitt’s chair of pediatrics from 1960 to 1965—was 80 years old, he accidentally left a spoon in the freezer, and when he removed it, he dropped it into a cup of hot water he had heated in the microwave. The water immediately began to boil. Intrigued, Day studied the phenomenon with the help of a Yale engineer and wrote a detailed, erudite explanation that was published in a letter to Nature.
Offering a mathematical means for determining the rate of an enzyme reaction. Maud Menten accomplished this in Berlin with Leonor Michaelis. After arriving at Pitt in 1923 as an assistant professor of pathology, Menten discovered the azo-dye coupling reaction for alkaline phosphatase (which is used as a dye in histology), characterized several bacterial toxins, and conducted the first electrophoretic separation of proteins in 1944. (She also investigated the properties of hemoglobin, the regulation of blood sugar levels, and kidney function.) That’s some of it. Menten was a clarinetist, an exhibited painter, a polyglot, and a stickler for doing English tea time properly.

Creating a technique in 1952 that allowed the poliovirus to be produced in adequate quantities for use in the Pitt team’s successful vaccine.

Julius Youngner, the Pitt virologist alluded to above (who is now Distinguished Service Professor Emeritus), also figured out how to culture cells derived from animal tissue, forming the foundation of modern cell culturing. (1947)

When in the army and stationed at Oak Ridge, Tenn., during the Manhattan Project, a civilian worker asked Youngner what was going on. He had no idea, actually, but couldn’t resist yanking the man’s chain. Drawing himself up to appear as in-the-know as possible, Youngner looked the gent in the eye and asked, ominously: “Do you want to get in real trouble?”


Unraveling the process of intestinal iron absorption. (D. Gitlin, 1962)

Identifying alpha fetoprotein as a critical indicator of potentially life-threatening birth defects in the developing baby (1967) and ceruloplasmin deficiency as a marker for Wilson’s disease (1952). Certain elements of David Gitlin’s (the late professor of pediatrics) research required human breast milk. He assigned student Bertram Lubin (MD ’64) to do the collecting. “I felt like Clarabelle Cow,” Lubin says with a laugh.
8.6 Proving that our bodies produce nitric oxide and mapping out its biochemical pathway. A Pitt med grad's work in immunology helped to unravel this entirely new principle for signaling in animals. The University of Utah’s John Hibbs Jr. (MD ’63) pursued his studies at the same time as others who later won the Nobel Prize in Medicine or Physiology for similar findings in the cardiovascular system.

8.7 Pitt faculty members are moving nitric oxide breakthroughs from the bench to the bedside: In clinical studies, they are using the pathway to protect the liver from damage. They're also testing ways to remove excess nitric oxide in cases of shock.

8.8 A Pitt med grad figured out that hormones control certain genes, was the first to isolate a hormone-regulated gene, and cloned it (showing it was possible to reproduce genes). Bert O’Malley (MD ’63), also uncovered how receptors, and therefore the genes they regulate, turn on and off, and he introduced the endocrine world to molecules called “co-activators,” which regulate gene expression. (D.O. in the creation story of his research career, which came first for Bert O’Malley, Father of Molecular Endocrinology, the chicken or the egg? Answer: Neither. Er, both. Well, actually, it was the oviduct, the passage from the hen’s ovaries to the outside, which undergoes dramatic changes in response to estrogen. O’Malley recognized that this system would be ideal for a series of hormone studies when he was working for the National Institutes of Health in the 1960s.

9.1 Discovery of a new category of lymphocytes called natural-killer (NK) cells. (R. Herberman, 1975)

9.2 Elucidating the DNA-repair process. The process can be likened to the work of a road crew finding a pothole in a highway, assessing the damage, and filling the hole. In the past decade, Pitt has built an impressive brain trust to watch multiple repair proteins in action. (B. Van Houten, 2009) Another realized that ATM kinase, a biochemical catalyst, is vital for the survival of cancer cells; it allows them to repair their DNA. By inhibiting ATM activity, it’s possible to selectively kill cancer cells that experience replication stress as a consequence of somatic mutation. (C. Bakkenist, 2010)

9.3 Stabilizing a cancer stem cell line. Ephemeral by nature, transforming quickly into mature cancer cells, cancer stem cells are difficult to study in their stem cell state. Or at least they were until a Pitt prof recently managed to freeze them in time. (E. Prochownik, 2010)

9.4 Identifying two of the seven known human cancer-causing viruses: KSHV (1993), which causes Kaposi’s sarcoma, and MCV (2008), the suspected culprit in the majority of cases of Merkel cell carcinoma. (Y. Chang, P. Moore)

9.5 Numerous seminal contributions to our understanding of “unorthodox” DNA structures and how they can lead to mutation. Fresh out of Pitt med's PhD program, biochemist Robert Wells (PhD ’64) turned down a faculty gig at Princeton on a hunch: another offer—a fellowship at the University of Wisconsin with H. Gobind Khorana—was the ticket. This turned out to be one honey of a hunch: Within two years, the group had cracked the genetic code. (Khorana received a Nobel in 1968.) Wells has since led a number of notable organizations, including the Center for Genome Research at Texas A&M.

9.6 Synthesizing adrenocorticotropic hormone, which helps preserve critical brain function during physiological stress or trauma. Klaus Hofmann managed to do this in 1961, when chair of the Department of Biochemistry.

9.7 As one of Hofmann’s grad students, Robert Wells experienced some stress while running an experiment that literally blew up in his face. In the wake of the accident, Hofmann calmly told Wells, “Bobs, I think you better take the rest of the day off.”

9.8 The first evidence that a heart defect is genetically linked to a dysfunction in cilia. (C. Lo, 2007)

9.9 Showing that there’s order to necrosis, thought to be a chaotic and irreversible process, by finding that it’s actually a response to stress regulated by a protein called a serpin. (C. Luke, G. Silverman, 2007)

10.0 Pinpointing in 2009 an enzyme inhibitor that allowed for a deeper understanding of the role of the fibroblast growth factor pathway in heart development and wound healing. With this knowledge, Pitt’s Michael Tsang even managed to enlarge a developing heart.
Robert Egan (MD '50) spent the early part of his career using inanimate objects as well as human subjects to find the perfect positioning of the breast for X-rays by trying everything from compressing the breasts to “floating” them in liquid. The “Egan technique” caught on and became the basis for modern mammography.

Mark Ravitch, who for 20 years was a Pitt professor of surgery, helped to introduce mechanical suturing techniques in the United States after seeing surgical staples used on a 1958 trip to Russia.

Biochemist Herbert Boyer (Arts & Sciences PhD '63) and geneticist Stanley Cohen first met at a conference in Hawaii in 1972. Afterward, over hot pastrami and corned beef sandwiches, they cooked up a way to genetically engineer cells to produce biological chemicals. Boyer and Cohen's first successful attempt at gene splicing, or recombinant DNA, followed a few months later.

Fellow Pitt undergraduate alum Paul Lauterbur (A&S '62) is further evidence that the best way to the heart of discovery may well be through the stomach. His aha! moment came in 1971, mid-bite into a Big Boy burger. Lauterbur won a Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine for a concept that took shape that day in his scribbling on, yes, a napkin: magnetic resonance imaging (MRI).

The liver is a big bleeder. When Thomas Starzl was perfecting liver transplantation, docs had to hand pump unit after unit of blood. John Sassano (Res '80) found a way around the problem by inventing the rapid infusion pump, which has become standard equipment in ERs and ORs.

In 1985, a Pittsburger named Tom Gaidosh received an artificial heart, and then, a few days later, a heart transplant. His was the world's second implant of the device as a bridge to transplant, and the first successful one—he lived for 12 more years. Both surgeries were performed at UPMC by Bartley Griffith (Res '81, Fel '78).

L. Dade Lunsford at the Center for Image-Guided Neurosurgery at Pitt used the first Gamma Knife in North America in 1987. While at Johns Hopkins University in 1988, Pittsburgh's Jeremy Berg predicted the structure of “zinc fingers,” which slide into the DNA double helix at precise positions. Research scientists now design custom zinc finger proteins to recognize genetic sequences they want to exchange in “knock-out” animal models.

The Peter M. Winter Institute for Simulation Education and Research (WISER) opened its doors in 1994. The idea was pretty simple: Give students a chance to train in a real-world environment without putting a patient at risk. What they built became the world’s most widely used patient simulation center.

Form WISER directors created a respiratory simulator called AirMan, some of whose technology was later licensed to the company that developed SimMan (a multi-purpose, computer-run simulator) and SimBaby. There are now 4,000 SimFolk helping to train medical personnel the world over.

On the top floor of Pitt's Scaife Hall is the Emergency Medicine Communication Center that fields calls from commercial airlines, Pittsburgh Medic Command, and STAT MedEvac, the largest private air medicine service in the country (with the second busiest heliport after the Pentagon).

A Pitt prof developed fluorescence light microscopy instruments and reagents, giving scientists a new perspective on living cells. D. Lansing Taylor created his first such image using a newly declassified military night-vision camera in 1974.

Optical coherence tomography, a 3-D optical biopsy that can catch signs of many types of eye disease before vision loss sets in, was patented by Pitt's Joel Schuman in 1994.

Among Bert O'Malley's (MD '63) many patients is a switch to turn genes off and on in humans and other animals.

About 11 percent of U.S. hospitals use basic electronic medical records. UPMC is among them—and has been for more than 20 years, thanks to a Pitt prof. In 1989, John Vries developed the Medical Archival System (MARS), one of the first such systems in the country.

Managing digital radiology images once required huge, centralized systems. That is until a Pitt radiologist created the Stentor system, which leverages less-expensive PCs and the World Wide Web. (P. Chang, 1998)

The average wheelchair user will push his hand rims perhaps 3,000 times a day. So Pitt researchers developed the Natural-Fit, a bestselling ergonomic hand rim that has helped tens of thousands of wheelchair users see the light at the end of the carpal tunnel.

Pathologists are able to make evaluations accurately from remote sites thanks to work done by clever folks here. Pitt docs are among the first to take thousands of digitized pathology images and quilt them together via software. They can use these images with integrated clinical data to make pathological diagnoses.
In its 125 years, the School of Medicine has minted 10,671 MDs.

Twenty-two men made up the first faculty of the medical college. The School of Medicine now has more than 2,000 regular faculty members (38 percent of whom are women), plus an additional 2,098 volunteer faculty.

All six women holding permanent department chairs in the medical school, the only women to do so in the school’s history, were appointed in the past 13 years during Arthur S. Levine’s tenure as dean.

Eleven-year-old Kirk LeMoyne inspired the founding of a hospital for children in Pittsburgh. In 1883, he formed the “cot club” which sponsored “the baby show,” a beauty pageant for children. The first effort raised $3,000 and led to other fundraisers that planted the seeds for Children’s Hospital of Pittsburgh.

Since 1997, the University of Pittsburgh (with its affiliates) has been one of the top 10 National Institutes of Health–funded institutions.

In 1883, he formed the “cot club” which sponsored “the baby show,” a beauty pageant for children. The first effort raised $3,000 and led to other fundraisers that planted the seeds for Children’s Hospital of Pittsburgh. The first 125th anniversary of its founding to affiliation with the University of Pittsburgh: From its founding to affiliation with the University of Pittsburgh (1986), Ruth C. Maszkiewicz’s of UPMC Presbyterian hospital of Pittsburgh: From its founding to affiliation with the University of Pittsburgh (1978). The class entering the school in 1908 had 145 members, of whom 60 graduated and 40 passed the state-licensing exam.

The School of Medicine can count four recipients of the Presidential Early Career Award for Scientists and Engineers among its ranks. The award, started by President Bill Clinton in 1996, is the government’s highest honor for young scientists.

Pitt has the busiest postcardiac-arrest service in the nation. Since 2007, the service has assisted in the care of patients at UPMC Presbyterian and includes the therapeutic use of hypothermia. Thus far, its team has seen 443 patients.

The Department of Psychiatry has ranked number one in NIH funding among all such departments since 1987.

For 2009, the School of Medicine received 5,202 applications. The incoming class consisted of 150 students.

Seventeen School of Medicine faculty members are among the 1,649 members of the National Academy of Sciences, which votes on just 72 U.S. scientists each year.

Pitt med students learn the basics of clinical practice from 92 standardized patients, who range in age from 18 to 77.

Pitt’s 10,000-tank zebra fish facility can accommodate up to half a million fish for research models.

The class entering the school in 1908 had 145 members, of whom 60 graduated and 40 passed the state-licensing exam.

The Class of 2008 was the first to complete the scholarly project, which was introduced to the curriculum in 2004. Their work resulted in 13 fellowships, grants, or other national awards; 20 School of Medicine awards; co-authorship of 42 peer-reviewed papers; and more than 46 national presentations and abstracts. (Harvard Medical School just announced it will require a similar scholarly project of all of its medical students.)

Bling! After their Super Bowl XLIII victory, the Pittsburgh Steelers had a championship ring fashioned for Robin West (Fel ’03), Pitt associate professor of orthopaedic surgery and the team’s assistant orthopaedic surgeon. The ring joined her Super Bowl XL pendant.

When Rolling Stone magazine ranked “The 100 People Who Are Changing America,” a Pitt scientist checked in at 32. Alan Russell, a PhD professor of surgery and former director of the McGowan Institute for Regenerative Medicine, was described as “a medical futurist who is finding ways for the body to rebuild itself.”

At 3 a.m. on Monday, April 27, 2009, the Class of 2009 successfully closed down Forbes Avenue in front of the Original Hotdog Shop to film 72 med students performing a Bollywood-style dance scene for Scutdocr Millioners. (You’ve gotta Google this one!)

Even if residents aren’t getting a lot of shut-eye, someone usually is on campus. The University’s Human Chronobiology Research Program observed 863 overnight studies in just 365 days last year. With that, we’ll rest.

BY THE NUMBERS

AND SINCE WE’RE IN THE COUNTING MOOD, WE’LL SIGN OFF WITH THESE NOTABLE NUMERICs.

125TH ANNIVERSARY FEATURE CONTRIBUTORS

Much of the historic section, “The Ills to Which Flesh Is Heir,” was written by Barbara I. Paull or is from her book, A Century of Medical Excellence: The History of the University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine (1986). Our feature contributors also include Erica Lloyd, Edwin Kiester Jr., Joe Miksch, Chuck Starresinic, Sharon Tregaskis, and Elaine Vitone, with reporting by Mary Brignano, Marc Melada, and Alexis Wnuk.